
IN THE DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT

NEW MEXICO

Civil Division

ALAN WOODRUFF, TERRY MULCAHY
)
CRAIG HARRIS, DONALD HILLIS,

)

MICHAL MUDD and GREEN PARTY OF
)

NEW MEXICO




)





Plaintiffs
)

Vs.






)          Case No.:  CV-2010-07942








)

MARY HERRERA, Individually and in her 
)
(Including CLASS ACTION)
official capacity as New Mexico Secretary of
)

State, DON FRANCISCO TRUJILLO, Indivi-
)

dually
and in  his official capacity as Director of 
)

the Bureau of Elections in the office of the 
)

Secretary of State, and GARY KING, in his 
)

official capacity Attorney General for the State 
)

of New Mexico




)
__________________________________________)

COMPLAINT (for Money Damages)

COME NOW, Plaintiffs ALAN WOODRUFF, TERRY MULCAHY, CRAIG HARRIS, DONALD HILLIS, MICHAL MUDD and GREEN PARTY OF NEW MEXICO and sue MARY HERRERA, individually and in her official capacity as New Mexico Secretary of State, GARY KING, in his official capacity as New Mexico Attorney General, and DON FRANCISCO TRUJILLO, individually, and say:
Action and Jurisdiction:
1 This is an action for legal and equitable relief pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983 for violation of Plaintiffs rights under the United States Constitution and for violation of Section 8 Article II of the New Mexico Constitution.

2 The Court has jurisdiction because Plaintiffs seek damages in excess of the jurisdictional requirements of this Court.
Parties:

3 Plaintiff ALAN WOODRUFF [herein “Woodruff”] is a resident of New Mexico and the nominee of the Green Party of New Mexico for the office of U.S. Representative.

4 Plaintiff TERRY MULCAHY [herein “Mulcahy”] is a resident of New Mexico and the nominee of the Green Party of New Mexico for the office of Secretary of State.

5 identified on his voter registration as “Libertarian.”

6 Plaintiff GREEN PARTY OF NEW MEXICO is a duly organized and chartered entity established for the purpose of nominating and supporting candidates for elected office.

7 Plaintiffs CRAIG HARRIS, DONALD HILLIS and MICHAL MUDD are residents of New Mexico and registered voters therein.

8 Defendant MARY HERRERA [herein “HERRERA” or “Secretary”] is the Secretary of State of New Mexico and the chief elections officer thereof.
9 Defendant GARY KING [herein “KING”] is the Attorney General of the State of New Mexico.
10 Defendant DON FRANCISCO TRUJILLO [herein “TRUJILLO] is director of the Bureau of Elections in the office of the Secretary of State of New Mexico.
COUNT I:
11. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1. through 11. and further allege as follows:

12. On June 22, 2010, Woodruff and Mulcahy attempted to file their qualifying papers for the 2010 general election.
13. Trujillo, individually, and as agent for Herrera, refused to accept the qualifying papers tendered by Woodruff and Herrera.

14. The basis on which Trujillo refused to accept Woodruff’s and Mulcahy’s filing was that the Green Party was not a “qualified” party.

15. The “qualified” status of the Green Party is in dispute and is the subject of a pending action in the United States District Court (case 1:09-cv-440 and cases consolidated therewith.)
16. Herrera/Trujillo could have (and should have) accepted Woodruff’s and Mulcahy’s qualifying papers and waited until the U.S. District Court had acted on claims that the Green Party was not required to “re-qualify” before taking action with respect to the qualifying papers tendered by Woodruff and Mulcahy.
17. Political parties may “qualify” by filing appropriate petitions up to the filing date for minor party candidates.

18. Woodruff attempted to file sufficient petition signatures to “qualify” the Green Party.

19. Trujillo refused to accept petitions that would, if accepted, have “qualified” the Green Party.

20. The New Mexico Election Code does not contain any provision authorizing the Secretary to refuse to accept candidate qualifying papers.
21. Woodruff and Mulcahy have a statutory and constitutional right to file candidate qualifying petitions and have those petitions accepted by the Secretary.

22. Woodruff and Mulcahy have been denied, and deprived of, their statutory and constitutional right without cause, without due process and without an opportunity to appeal Trujillo’s actions.
23. NMSA §1-8-2(B) provides that qualifying papers for minor party candidates must be filed on the 21 day following the primary election.

24. In 2010, the date for filing minor party candidate qualifying papers is/was June 22.

25. The Election Code does not permit the Secretary to accept candidate qualifying papers after the date prescribed by NMSA §1-8-2(B).
26. The Secretary refuses to accept candidate qualifying papers filed after the date prescribed by statute.

27. Regardless of how the U.S. District Court rules regarding the “qualified” status of the Green Party, the Secretary cannot/will not accept Woodruff’s and Mulcahy’s qualifying papers. 
28. The right to be a candidate for elected office is a constitutionally protected rights.
29. As a result of Trujillo’s refusal to accept their qualifying papers, Woodruff and Mulcahy have been damaged by being completely denied any opportunity to appear on the ballot for the 2010 general election.

30. In refusing to accept the qualifying papers filed by Woodruff and Mulcahy, Trujillo was acting outside the scope of the duties of his office and for the purpose of causing injury to Woodruff, Mulcahy and the Green Party.

31. In her official capacity, the Herrera has a duty to administer the Election Code, and the Office of the Secretary of State, in a neutral fashion without regard to her personal political concerns.

32. Mulcahy is the Green Party candidate for the office of Secretary of State.
33. The Green Party is perceived by the public as an electoral alternative to the Democratic Party.

34. Herrera is a registered Democrat and the Democratic candidate for Secretary of State in the 2010 general election.

35. Herrera’s and Trujillo’s refusal to accept petitions qualifying the Green Party, and refusal to recognize the Green Party as a qualified party, was intended to advance the personal interests of Herrera and the Democratic party.

36. In refusing to accept the qualifying papers filed by Woodruff and Mulcahy, Trujillo was acting as an agent, at the behest of, with the knowledge of, and with the concurrence and approval of Herrera.

37. Trujillo’s refusal to accept Mulcahy’s qualifying papers was intended to advance Herrera’s personal political objectives by reducing competition for the office she is seeking.

38. Trujillo’s refusal to accept Woodruff’s and Mulcahy’s qualifying papers was not necessary to serve, nor did it actually serve, any legitimate state purpose and was not required, authorized or permitted by the Election Code..

39. WHEREFORE, Woodruff and Mulcahy ask that the court enter its judgment:

 (A) Finding that the State of New Mexico, Mary Herrera personally and Don Francisco Trujillo personally have acted to unconstitutionally deny Woodruff and Mulcahy ballot access. 
 (B) Awarding monetary damages to the Woodruff, Mulcahy and the Green Party of New Mexico.
 (C) Awarding attorney’s fees and costs.

COUNT II:
CLASS ACTION
40. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1. through 11. and 13. through 38 and further allege as follows:

41. In her official capacity, the Secretary has a duty to administer the Election Code in conformity with the requirements of the New Mexico Constitution and the United States Constitution.

42. Woodruff and the Green Party have sued the Secretary in United State District Court (case 1:09-cv-449 and cases consolidated therein) challenging the constitutionality of certain provisions of the New Mexico Election Code as they relate to the rights of minor parties and their candidates to participate in New Mexico elections.

43. When the constitutionality of provisions of the New Mexico Election Code have been brought into question, the Secretary has a duty, in her official capacity, to assist in the determination of the constitutionality of challenged statutes. 

44. The Secretary has, for purposes of denying the Green Party and its nominees their right to participate in the 2010 general election, conspired with litigation counsel in the Office of the Attorney General to avoid judicial determinations of the constitutionality of provisions of the Election Code and the Green Party’s right of ballot access by:

 (A) Delaying proceedings, in the U.S. District Court, by using, and exceeding, the maximum time permitted by judicial rules for filing pleadings, for the purpose of preventing rulings from being entered prior to the 2010 general election.

 (B) Employing procedural tactics to prevent the courts from addressing from ever considering constitutional challenges to the ballot access provisions of the Election Code.

 (C) Causing and/or permitting officials of the Office of the Secretary of State to provide false information in defense of provisions of the Election Code.

45. The actions of litigation counsel were intended to frustrate the resolution of challenges to the constitutionality of provisions of the Election Code.

46. King knew, or should have known, about the actions of Litigation Counsel and approved and condoned those actions.
47. King has a duty to supervise the actions of attorneys in the office of the Attorney General.

48. King has a duty to ensure that the laws of the State of New Mexico comport with the requirements of the U.S. Constitution for the benefit of all citizens of the State of New Mexico.
49. King’s duty to uphold the U.S. Constitution supercedes his duty to defend the laws of the State of New Mexico.

50. In her official capacity, the Secretary has a duty to administer the Election Code in a neutral manner without preference to the interests of any political party.

51. The Secretary has knowingly and purposefully misconstrued and misapplied the provisions of the New Mexico Election Code to frustrate and impair ballot access by minor parties and their candidates and impose ballot access burdens on minor parties and their candidates that are not established by the Election Code. 
52. The Secretary has, for the purpose of injuring the Green Party and impairing its access to the ballot for the 2010 general election, knowingly and purposefully violated the requirements of the Election Code by:

 (A) Failing to comply with the provisions of the Election Code requiring the Secretary to notify the Green Party of its purported loss of “qualified” status.

 (B) Knowingly and purposefully continuing to identify the Green Party as a “qualified” party on the web-site of the Secretary of State for the purpose of misleading the Green Party and causing it to delay actions to “re-qualify.”

53. The Secretary has no authority to establish requirements and procedures not authorized or required by the Election Code.
54. The Secretary has improperly, and without justification, established a “straight-party” voting option that is not authorized by the Election Code and denied minor parties inclusion in the list of “straight-party” voting options.

55. In her official capacity, the Secretary has a duty to administer the Election Code by its terms without additions impairing the rights of ballot access by candidates.

56. The Secretary has, for purposes of impairing access to the ballot by minor party candidates:

 (A) Included, in the minor party candidate “qualifying” petition form published by her, required the inclusion of information not required by the Election Code.

 (B) Established secret (unpublished and undisclosed) practices and policies for using impermissibly included information in minor party candidate petition forms to denying minor party candidates access to the ballot
57. In her official capacity, the Secretary has a duty to administer the Election Code in conformity with the rulings of controlling judicial authority.

58. The Secretary has failed and refused to administer the Election Code in conformity with judicial rulings by:

 (A) Continuing to engage in practices that the courts have held to be unconstitutional.

 (B) Refusing to comply with court orders and denying candidates ballot access based on the imposition of requirements that the courts have ruled that she cannot apply.
59. In her official capacity, Herrera has a duty to implement procedures through compliance with the requirements of the State Rule Act.

60. Herrera has, for the purpose of impairing the rights of ballot access by minor parties and minor party candidates, established and perpetuated rules, regulations and practices impairing the rights of ballot access by minor parties and minor party candidates without complying with the requirements of the State Rules Act.

61. Herrera has a duty to enforce the campaign finance laws of the State of New Mexico for the purposes of ensuring the integrity of elections.

62. Herrera has actual knowledge of violations of the New Mexico campaign finance laws.

63. Herrera has failed and refused to enforce the campaign finance laws and opposed legal action to require her to perform her statutory duty. 

64. The actions of Trujillo and Herrera alleged herein are not permitted or authorized by the Election Code, are not within the scope of their official duties and were taken for their personal benefit and with malice and the intent to injure minor parties and their candidates and deprive the voters of New Mexico of electoral choices.
65. The acts alleged herein impair the free and open elections and interfere with the exercise of the voting franchise under the United States Constitution and guaranteed by the New Mexico Constitution.

66. There are approximately 1,000,000 registered voters in New Mexico.

67. All registered voters in New Mexico have a common and equal interest in having choices of candidates for elected office representing all views on issues of public importance.

68. The actions, practices, policies and procedures alleged herein impair the voting rights of all registered voters in New Mexico and injury to all registered voters.
69. Plaintiffs Hillis, Harris, and Mudd are representative of all registered voters in New Mexico.

70. Factual issues regarding injury to voters predominate individual variance between voters.

71. All registered voters in New Mexico have been injured by the actions and inactions asserted hereinabove.
72. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs ask that the court enter its judgment:

 (A) Awarding monetary damages to all registered voters in New Mexico.

 (B) Awarding attorney’s fees and costs.

PLAINTIFFS DEMAND JURY TRIAL

________________________  

Alan P. Woodruff, Esq.

10304 Calle Hidalgo N.W.

Albuquerque, New Mexico 87114

(505) 508-3421
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